

Working Paper

Governance of exnovation: phasing out non-sustainable structures

Oeko-Institut Working Paper 2/2017

Dirk Arne Heyen

(Translation by Michelle Monteforte)



Öko-Institut e.V. / Oeko-Institut e.V.

Geschäftsstelle Freiburg / Freiburg Head Office

Postfach / P.O. Box 17 71 79017 Freiburg. Deutschland / Germany Tel.: +49 761 45295-0 Fax: +49 761 45295-288

Büro Darmstadt / Darmstadt Office

Rheinstraße 95 64295 Darmstadt. Deutschland / Germany Tel.: +49 6151 8191-0 Fax: +49 6151 8191-133

Büro Berlin / Berlin Office

Schicklerstraße 5-7 10179 Berlin. Deutschland / Germany Tel.: +49 30 405085-0 Fax: +49 30 405085-388

info@oeko.de www.oeko.de

Working Paper

Governance of exnovation: phasing out non-sustainable structures

Dirk Arne Heyen

(Translation by Michelle Monteforte)

Working Paper 2/2017 Öko-Institut e.V. / Oeko-Institut e.V.

February 2017

Download: www.oeko.de/fileadmin/oekodoc/WP-Exnovation-EN.pdf

This working paper builds on the project "Exnovation governance" that has been funded by the German "Legacy for the Future Foundation" (*Stiftung Zukunftserbe*).

stiftung zukunftserbe **

A more detailed paper in German can be found here: https://www.oeko.de/fileadmin/oekodoc/WP-Exnovation.pdf



Dieses Werk bzw. Inhalt steht unter einer Creative Commons Namensnennung, Weitergabe unter gleichen Bedingungen 4.0 Lizenz. Öko-Institut e.V. 2017

This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 4.0. Oeko-Institut e.V. 2017

Die Working Paper Series des Öko-Instituts ist eine Sammlung wissenschaftlicher Beiträge aus der Forschungsarbeit des Öko-Instituts e.V. Sie präsentieren und diskutieren innovative Ansätze und Positionen der aktuellen Nachhaltigkeitsforschung. Die Serie ist offen für Arbeiten von Wissenschaftlerinnen und Wissenschaftlern aus anderen Forschungseinrichtungen. Die einzelnen Working Paper entstehen in einem sorgfältigen wissenschaftlichen Prozess ohne externes Peer Review.

Oeko-Institut's Working Paper Series is a collection of research articles written within the scope of the institute's research activities. The articles present and discuss innovative approaches and positions of current sustainability research. The series is open to work from researchers of other institutions. The Working Papers are produced in a scrupulous scientific process without external peer reviews.

Abstract

Politics and research have been primarily concerned with the quite appealing side of transformations: the new. But innovations and their promotion are often insufficient for replacing established non-sustainable structures that are still economically functioning (sometimes helped by subsidies). The promotion of renewable energy has for example been insufficient to push climatedamaging coal out of the energy market. The focus on innovation should thus be complemented (not replaced) by a stronger occupation in politics and research with "exnovation": the exit from non-sustainable infrastructures, technologies, products and practices. Given path dependencies and resistance of established actors, political exnovation intentions face significant challenges. It must thus be asked which measures are appropriate for political enforcement of exnovation, and how the exnovation process can be carried out in a socioeconomically acceptable manner. This paper discusses the challenges as well as governance approaches, based on a combination of scientific literature with past and present political case examples. It is intended to provide a conceptual frame as well as a practically orientated impulse for further discussion on various exnovation and structural change processes that are necessary for environmental reasons.

Table of Contents

Abstract		5
1.	Introduction: Established structures as neglected issue in sustainability research and policy	9
2.	Exnovation challenges: path dependencies and resistance	10
3.	Governance of exnovation	11
3.1.	Promoting alternatives, finding support	11
3.2.	Exnovation by consensus?	12
3.3.	Policy instrumentation	12
3.4.	Early initiation, phased implementation	13
3.5.	Support for those affected by exnovation	13
4.	Conclusion	14
List of references		15

1. Introduction: Established structures as neglected issue in sustainability research and policy¹

The World Wide Fund for Nature estimates the current human consumption of natural resources and services in a year at 1.6 times the biological capacity of the earth (WWF 2016). Rockström et al. (2009) defined nine planetary (global biophysical) limits outlining a safe operating space for humanity. Exceeding these limits could endanger the complex planetary equilibrium and lead to related risks for humanity. Some of these limits can already be considered to be exceeded.

Certain existing economic structures can be associated with particularly high levels of resource consumption, environmental effects and risks. The use of fossil fuels in energy production, for example, contributes 43% of all CO_2 emissions in Germany (UBA 2016). However, according to serious climate protection goals, especially in light of the recent Paris Agreement, energy production and mobility should be almost completely emission-free by 2050.

Such transformation processes towards sustainability indisputably require innovation. Innovations have often been politically supported, as can be seen in the fields of renewable energy or electromobility. Research literature is also rich with analyses on the development and diffusion of innovation and offers recommendations for these processes.

However, less addressed has been the question of how to deal with the old technologies and products. David et al. (2016) point here to the presence of an "innovation bias".

It is becoming increasingly obvious that the analysis and support of innovation alone is not sufficient, as "the new" often simply supplements "the old", creating parallel structures (Arnold et al. 2015; Antes et al. 2012; Geels 2014; Kivimaa & Kern 2016; Paech 2006; Szarka 2012; Thelen 2002). For example, although the German Renewable Energy Act (*Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz*, EEG) has led to a significant increase in the production of renewable energy, electricity generated by lignite and hard coal has remained relatively constant.

Rather, transformation also requires an active phasing out of non-sustainable structures. As the counterpart to innovation, the term "exnovation" has started to take hold in the German debate on sustainability (Antes et al. 2012; Arnold et al. 2015; Clausen & Fichter 2016; Paech 2006; Wolff et al. 2007). The term is understood here as the process of phasing something existing completely² out of a system. Exnovation can have a wide range, from certain products and consumption habits to entire sectors or technologies so essential to a sector that their absence would equate to a radical change (such as combustion engines in the automobile sector).

Existing literature on exnovation or similar concepts, such as "regime destabilization" in transition literature (see Turnheim & Geels 2012), has thus far been relatively abstract or has only included historical case studies of exnovation occurring through technical advances and shifted demand. In contrast, this paper addresses politically intended exnovation, as was present in Germany and many other countries in the cases of asbestos, DDT, chlorofluorocarbon (CFC), traditional light bulbs and leaded petrol, and currently in the case of nuclear energy. Furthermore, exnovation is arguably deemed necessary in the cases of coal, fossil car fuels and hydrofluorocarbons (HFC).

¹ This paper is the (shorter) English version of a more detailed Working Paper in German (Heyen 2016). I would like to thank the German "Legacy for the Future Foundation" (*Stiftung Zukunftserbe*) for funding the "Exnovation governance" project where these papers have been developed. I would also like to thank several colleagues at Oeko-Institut (in particular Rainer Grießhammer) and all participants of an exnovation workshop on 2 December 2016 in Berlin for their helpful comments, as well as Michelle Monteforte for drafting the English translation.

² In contrast, Antes et al. (2012) refer to exnovation gradients with varying magnitudes of phasing out. This would however be indistinguishable from a reduction and would thus lack analytical clarity.

This working paper thus focuses on technologies and products which are economically feasible (some supported by subsidies) but should be phased out on the grounds of ecological sustainability.

Path dependencies and resistance (see the following section) make political decisions on exnovation difficult to achieve. Thus lessons are drawn in this paper from successful past exnovation decisions (mainly in Germany) and from scientific literature, especially transition literature (Geels 2014; Hess 2014; Kivimaa & Kern 2016; Turnheim & Geels 2012) and political science literature on "policy change", "loss imposition" and "policy termination" (Bardach 1976; Bauer et al. 2012; Behn 1978; Heyen 2011; Kingdon 1995; Pal & Weaver 2003; Pierson 1996). This paper will not only look at political instruments (policy dimension). Rather, given the increased legitimacy demands for political exnovation decisions (due to their destabilizing character), it will also give particular focus to aspects of actors and processes (politics dimension).

This paper aims to contribute to deeper discussions as well as policy actions in view of concrete exnovation cases in practice. While the somewhat technical term "exnovation" does not need to be applied in societal discourses, it can serve more generally as an umbrella concept, allowing for a scientific discourse on such processes.

2. Exnovation challenges: path dependencies and resistance

Existing sociotechnical structures are generally stable and advantaged compared to new ones. This can be attributed to legal, economic, infrastructural, technological, organisational and userrelated path dependencies (Clausen & Fichter 2016; Unruh 2000). Resistance emerges when the material and ideological interests related to the status quo are threatened (Geels 2014; Hess 2014; Szarka 2012). Policy termination literature refers here to an "anti-termination coalition" (Bardach 1976; DeLeon 1978). In addition to actors who are directly affected, suppliers of products or expertise as well as politicians and bureaucrats responsible for the sector in question can be part of such a coalition, sharing the same problem perception and values (see Geels 2014; Lindblom 2001; Unruh 2000). In sectors with a significant economic importance to a local community or region, regional governmental actors can be expected to provide further resistance towards exnovation. A good example here is the coal sector in Germany and elsewhere.

While competing coalitions are common in politics, vested interests are especially strong, as they are already well organised, and have usually spent years building up relationships and resources. Furthermore, losses are typically given more weight than (equivalent) gains (Kahneman & Tversky 1979), such that these actors are more motivated to act, meaning to resist (e.g. Pal & Weaver 2003; Pierson 1996). This inclination is exacerbated when the losses or costs are concentrated and obvious, while the benefits (such as ecological improvement) are dispersed and intangible (Wilson 1980). Following the principles of "collective action" (Olson 1965), actors with concentrated costs are more easily mobilised (Wilson 1980).

Established actors utilise various methods for combatting changes which threaten their interests. Geels (2014) refers here to "instrumental, discursive, material and institutional forms of power and resistance". Discursive methods include, for example, casting doubt regarding the necessity, feasibility and/or utility of a transformation. Resistance might also include attempts to overinflate estimations of the costs or job losses to be incurred, sometimes supported by their own studies.

Furthermore, legal hurdles may exist which could hinder exnovation measures or lead to compensations. Constitutional rights of property and the freedom of occupation, together with the legal principles of proportionality and "legitimate expectations" can act as constraints when seeking

to impose environmental restrictions on existing facilities. International agreements can also be used by foreign companies as an additional, questionable path for legal action, as in the international arbitration between Vattenfall and the Federal Republic of Germany on the country's nuclear phase-out.

However, when in line with the proportionality principle, e.g. by the use of transitional arrangements (see below), ex-post regulations can be constitutional and imposed without compensation. The German Constitutional Court ruling in December 2016 on the nuclear phaseout is encouraging here, as it ruled that deadlines set for the shutdown of nuclear plants were, in principle, constitutionally legitimate and reasonable. Only marginal parts of the regulation were found to warrant compensation. Thus a medium- to long-term coal phase-out should also be possible without significant compensation.

3. Governance of exnovation

3.1. Promoting alternatives, finding support

Besides exnovation, transformation processes need technical, social and institutional innovation. Even the most amenable windows of opportunity, such as a change in government or a crisis or catastrophe, can only be utilised if alternative solutions have already prepared (Kingdon 1995; Turnheim & Geels 2012). The decisions to phase out nuclear power in Germany would, for example, not have been possible without the years of research and development in the field of renewable energy and the existence of alternative visions (Grießhammer & Brohmann 2015).

As is typically the case in politics, exnovation plans, too, require coalition building with multiple actors who can possibly offer various necessary resources and reach various target groups. For exnovation, the support of the innovators of sustainable alternatives and other actors with economic interests in these alternatives are vital. Environmental groups are also valuable here. Greenpeace was, for example, not only involved in the campaign for the exnovation of CFC in refrigerators and paper bleaching with chlorine, but was also active in the development of environmentally-friendly alternatives.

Actors with motives and goals beyond environmental and climate protection should also be engaged, adding problem dimensions of the status quo and broadening the "political arena" (Behn 1978). The phasing-out of subsidies for the black coal mining sector in Germany was supported by environmental politicians but primarily instigated by finance-policy-makers from centre-right parties. The coalition of actors could similarly be expanded in the current challenge of phasing out lignite in Germany and elsewhere, e.g. by including the water industry which suffers from water pollution around lignite mining areas.

In the political debate, exnovation proponents should convey both the costs and damages of existing technologies and the advantages of sustainable alternatives, including economic opportunities. It seems advisable to speak not only about "ending", "termination", etc., but also about "the new". Moreover, in addition to conveying one's own arguments, it is also important to prepare responses for the opponents' arguments. For example, by commissioning independent studies in advance, the overinflated costs and job losses estimated by the opposing interests can be better rebuked.

3.2. Exnovation by consensus?

Precedent examples suggest that negotiation with exnovation-affected actors can offer a chance for legitimacy and a successful exnovation decision. In 2000, the red-green federal government coalition in Germany was able to agree with energy companies on a phase-out of nuclear power. Likewise, in 2007 the "grand coalition" on the federal level and two regional governments were able to come to an agreement with representatives from the hard coal mining industry on the expiration of subsidies and with it, domestic hard coal extraction by the end of 2018 (see Heyen 2011 for an analysis of both cases).

The two cases demonstrate that the biggest advantage of cooperation on exnovation policy lies in the circumvention of resistance and political or legal disputes, which could end up being more time consuming than negotiations would have been. In contrast to the nuclear phase-out in Sweden, the red-green coalition in Germany was able to avoid paying heavy compensation; and in contrast to the closure of coal mines in Great Britain under Thatcher, strong resistance and social unrest was avoided. Naturally compromises had to be made to achieve the agreement, such as on the timeline for the phase-out. However, the "shadow of hierarchy" (Scharpf 2001) and the advantages of planning certainty ensured that industry actors were also open to negotiation (ibid.).³

Negotiated compromises will not be necessary, fitting or feasible in all exnovation cases. Rather, this consensual approach appears to be most suitable when substantial legal barriers or serious structural change looms, as is the case for a coal phase-out. While such negotiations should be bound to ambitious climate goals, the exact course of the phase-out can be openly negotiated. As in the German case of hard coal mining, questions on the path of the phase-out, support for structural change (see below) and how to approach the long-term costs of mining sites should be linked together within a package deal (Agora Energiewende 2016).

3.3. Policy instrumentation

Irrespective of the existence of a consensual agreement, the concrete policy instrumentation and formulation of an exnovation process must be determined. One first step towards exnovation might be the dismantling of subsides and the withdrawal of public investment ("divestment"), for example in the area of fossil fuel. For hard coal in Germany, allowing for the expiration of (vital) subsidies was sufficient to achieve exnovation; however, this was an exceptional case.

Generally, direct and indirect instruments for exnovation can be distinguished. Regulatory bans or the withdrawal of (operating) permits for existing facilities constitute direct instruments. Examples are the ban on sales of DDT and leaded fuel in Germany and many other countries. More long-term, possibly gradual phase-out deadlines are also a possibility, as in the case of asbestos and CFC use, or the nuclear phase out in Germany.

In contrast, indirect instruments can include efficiency requirements, limits or taxes. These measures do not consist of a direct ban, but make production or use de facto unfeasible or economically unattractive. For example, efficiency standards were used to gradually phase out classic incandescent and halogen light bulbs in EU countries within the framework of the EU Eco-Design Directive. Likewise, for the exnovation of fossil-fuelled vehicles in the EU a gradual reduction of allowable CO_2 levels towards 0g/km in 2030 has been proposed.

³ As regards the nuclear phase-out project of the red-green government, both government and energy suppliers were uncertain as to how the Federal Constitutional Court would rule on admissibility and compensation. Thus energy suppliers accepted the temporal limitation for the operation of nuclear power plants (with a medium- to long-term phase-out), while the government promised not to impose further taxes or regulatory restrictions (Heyen 2011).

It should be noted, that there is no one-size-fits-all instrument for exnovation. Imposing taxes making something uneconomical, without a clearly-defined exnovation intention by the legislator could be legally and constitutionally problematic. Rather, a middle- or long-term ban respecting the proportionality principle offers more legal as well as economic planning certainty for stakeholders.

3.4. Early initiation, phased implementation

Extended transition periods can be helpful for reducing resistance in exnovation processes (Bardach 1976; DeLeon 1978; Pal & Weaver 2003; Pierson 1996). They may not be necessary in cases in which goods involve only minimal investment (e.g. patio heaters), or where alternatives are readily available and a long transition period is not ecologically acceptable (as in the case of the short-termed ban on the use of DDT in the agricultural sector in Germany in 1972). However, when a quick exnovation process threatens to cause strong socioeconomic friction, companies and employees should be given sufficient time to adjust to the change.

One downside to a long transition period for exnovation is the potential for revision of the decision, for example after a change in government (Heyen 2011). In the compromise on hard coal subsidies in Germany there was even an explicit option for revision in 2012, although it was not taken advantage of. The interim (after Fukushima reversed) revision in 2010 of Germany's redgreen government's nuclear phase-out law (from 2001) by a centre-right government demonstrates the possibility of a revision even without such an explicit option. A ban on old night storage heaters in households by 2020 was similarly reversed by the German Federal Government in 2013.

It is impossible to fully prevent such cases in democratic constitutional systems. A preclusion of reversal would violate the principle of discontinuity after elections and hinder a new majority's ability to rule. The approval of an exnovation decision with broad political support, including from current opposition parties, appears to be the most effective approach for reducing the likelihood of revision. This was done in the expedited nuclear phase-out decision in Germany after Fukushima.

When an exnovation process is to entail a long phasing-out period, it is essential to begin communication and decision-making early on. This allows not only for planning and investment certainty for companies, particularly in branches with long investment cycles, but also for workers regarding their choice of profession and for consumers regarding their purchasing decisions. It also means that action must be taken in the near future, if the last coal plants are to be phased out and no new fossil-fuelled vehicle are to be sold by 2030 or 2035.

3.5. Support for those affected by exnovation

Exnovation can have potentially serious socioeconomic effects on companies, their employees or even entire regions. To reduce the risk of resistance, but also for normative reasons, such effects should not be taken lightly. It is a political responsibility to lessen social and economic hardships while also promoting new and long-term prospects (Vallentin et al. 2016). Setting a timeline for a phase-out as already mentioned is one approach for easing the transition to new business models and employment opportunities. Various structural policy instruments are also available.

In some cases compensation for businesses might be appropriate or even constitutionally required, such as when a quick phase-out is demanded. However, compensation should generally be avoided or at least be conditional, as regards for example investment in new business models. It could cause a chain reaction of compensation claims or windfall profits and false incentives. For example, a company might let a plant, which was going to be shut down anyway, run until it receives compensation through a government-imposed phase-out.

The potentially restricting effects of exnovation on a company's business model can quickly be felt by its employees. When a company is forced to adopt a new business model, downsizing might be required. However, management and employee representatives can negotiate solutions in which part-time or short-time work and early retirement can circumvent employee terminations. In more difficult exnovation cases such as in coal mining, the government can provide additional assistance to employees during the transition (Schulz & Schwartzkopff 2016). Programmes for young employees could also be offered to help with new career opportunities and re-education.

In exnovation cases such as with lignite, where the economic strength and public budgets of an entire region are threatened, support on higher political levels should be provided. In addition to general infrastructural aid, funding should be directed towards sustainable industries such as renewable energy, efficiency technologies or digital business models, taking into account regional potentials and local characteristics. Processes for developing visions and new ideas should take place bottom-up, with participation by stakeholders from the local economy (including start-ups), researchers and civil society (ibid., Vallentin et al. 2016). An example of this approach can be seen in the "Innovationsregion Rheinland".

A better focus of existing economic support programmes, e.g. the European structural funds, on sustainable processes offers a potential source of funding for exnovation transitions. Furthermore, special funding programmes could be developed for particularly large processes of structural change. The creation of such a special programme has been proposed by numerous actors for the phase-out of lignite in Germany (Agora Energiewende 2016).

4. Conclusion

The past focus by researchers and political actors on innovation should be complemented (not replaced) by a stronger occupation with exnovation, the phase-out of non-sustainable infrastructure, technologies, products and practices. This paper has sought to shed light on both the challenges and the political options for socially-acceptable exnovation processes. It appears to be politically, legally und socioeconomically advantageous, when dealing with substantial exnovation processes such as the coal phase-out, to allow for long transition periods by beginning planning early and by operating with clear political goals and instruments.

Further research, including in-depth and comparative analyses of past exnovation instances and successful structural transitions, including those abroad, could improve our know-how for future processes. In contrast to the technological exnovation cases presented in this paper, the analysis of more behaviour-related cases could be useful, i.e. the exnovation of societal practices. Lastly, decisions on (product) exnovation by businesses could also be worth looking at.

List of references

- Agora Energiewende (2016). Eleven principles for a consensus on coal: Concept for a stepwise decarbonisation of the German power sector.
- Antes, R.; Eisenack, K. & Fichter, K. (2012). Wirtschaftswissenschaftliche Ansätze zur Gestaltung von Wandlungsprozessen. Ökologisches Wirtschaften, 27(3), p.35.
- Arnold, A. et al.Sonnberger, M. (eds.) (2015). Innovation Exnovation: Über Prozesse des Abschaffens und Erneuerns in der Nachhaltigkeitstransformation. Marburg: Metropolis.
- Bardach, E. (1976). Policy termination as a political process. Policy Sciences, 7(2), pp. 123–131. doi:10.1007/BF00143910.
- Bauer, M. et al.Héritier, A. (eds.) (2012). Dismantling public policy: Preferences, strategies, and effects. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Behn, R. (1978). How to terminate a public policy: A dozen hints for the would-be terminator. Policy Analysis, pp. 393–413.
- Clausen, J. & Fichter, K. (2016). Pfadabhängigkeiten und evolutorische Ökonomik. "Evolution 2 green" project paper.
- David, M.; Arnold, A.; Sonnberger, M. & Hanke, G. (2016). Exnovation: The missing 'something' in current debates on sustainability transitions. IST Conference 2016.
- DeLeon, P. (1978). Public policy termination: An end and a beginning. Policy Analysis, pp. 369–392.
- Geels, F. (2014). Regime resistance against low-carbon transitions: Introducing politics and power into the multi-level perspective. Theory, Culture & Society, (Special Issue: Energy & Society), pp. 1–20.
- Grießhammer, R. & Brohmann, B. (2015). How Transformations and Social Innovations Can Succeed: Transformation Strategies and Models of Change for Transition to a Sustainable Society. Baden-Baden: Nomos.
- Hess, D. (2014). Sustainability transitions: A political coalition perspective. Research Policy, 43(2), pp. 278–283.
- Heyen, D. A. (2011). Policy Termination durch Aushandlung: Eine Analyse der Ausstiegsregelungen zu Kernenergie und Kohlesubventionen. der moderne staat – Zeitschrift für Public Policy, Recht und Management, (1), pp. 149–166.
- Heyen, D. A. (2016). Exnovation: Herausforderungen und politische Gestaltungsansätze für den Ausstieg aus nicht-nachhaltigen Strukturen (Oeko-Institut Working Paper No. 3/2016).
- Kahneman, D. & Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decision under Risk. Econometrica, 47(2), pp. 263–291.
- Kingdon, J. (1995). Agendas, Alternatives, and Public Policies. New Haven & London: Longman.
- Kivimaa, P. & Kern, F. (2016). Creative destruction or mere niche support? Innovation policy mixes for sustainability transitions. Research Policy, 45(1), pp. 205–217.
- Lindblom, C. (2001). The market system: What it is, how it works, and what to make of it. Yale ISPS series. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Olson, M. (1965). The logic of collective action: Public goods and the theory of groups. Harvard economic studies: Vol. 124. Cambridge, Ma: Harvard University Press.
- Paech, N. (2006). Wirtschaften ohne Wachstumszwang. Ökologisches Wirtschaften-Fachzeitschrift, 21(3).
- Pal, L. & Weaver, R. (2003). The government taketh away: The politics of pain in the United States and Canada. American governance and public policy series. Washington, DC: Georgetown Univ. Press.
- Pierson, P. (1996). The New Politics of the Welfare State. World Politics, 48(2), pp. 143–179.

- Rockström, J.; Steffen, W.; Noone, K.; Persson, Å.; Chapin, F.; Lambin, E.; Lenton, T.; Scheffer, M.; Folke, C.; Schellnhuber, H.; Nykvist, B.; de Wit, Cynthia A.; Hughes, T.; van der Leeuw, Sander; Rodhe, H.; Sörlin, S.; Snyder, P.; Costanza, R.; Svedin, U.; Falkenmark, M.; Karlberg, L.; Corell, R.; Fabry, V.; Hansen, J.; Walker, B.; Liverman, D.; Richardson, K.; Crutzen, P. & Foley, J. (2009). Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity. Ecology and Society, 14(2).
- Scharpf, F. (2001). Die Handlungsfähigkeit des Staates am Ende des zwanzigsten Jahrhunderts. Politische Vierteljahresschrift, 32, pp. 621–634.
- Schulz, S. & Schwartzkopff, J. (2016). Erfahrungen mit dem Strukturwandel: Instrumentarium für einen sozialverträglichen Kohleausstieg. Berlin.
- Szarka, J. (2012). Climate Challenges, Ecological Modernization, and Technological Forcing: Policy Lessons from a Comparative US-EU Analysis. Global Environmental Politics, 12(2), pp. 87–109.
- Thelen, K. (2002). How Institutions Evolve Insights from Comparative Historical Analysis. In J. Mahoney & D. Rueschemeyer (Eds.), Comparative Historical Analysis in the Social Sciences (pp. 208–240).
 Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Turnheim, B. & Geels, F. (2012). Regime destabilisation as the flipside of energy transitions: Lessons from the history of the British coal industry (1913-1997). Energy Policy, 50, pp. 35–49.
- UBA (2016). Daten zur Umwelt: Kohlendioxid-Emissionen. Available at <u>www.umweltbundesamt.de/daten/klimawandel/treibhausgas-emissionen-in-deutschland/kohlendioxid-</u> <u>emissionen</u>, last accessed on 18 Feb 2017.
- Unruh, G. (2000). Understanding carbon lock-in. Energy Policy, 28(12), pp. 817–830. doi:10.1016/S0301-4215(00)00070-7.
- Vallentin, D.; Wehnert, T.; Schüle, R. & Mölter, H. (2016). Strategische Ansätze für die Gestaltung des Strukturwandels in der Lausitz: Was lässt sich aus den Erfahrungen in Nordrhein-Westfalen und dem Rheinischen Revier lernen?
- Wilson, J. (1980). The Politics of Regulation. New York: Basic Books.
- Wolff, F.; Schmitt, K. & Hochfeld, C. (2007). Competitiveness, innovation and sustainability: Clarifying the concepts and their interrelations.
- WWF (2016). Living Planet Report 2016: Risk and resilience in a new era.